
 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO  
EASTERN DIVISION 

 
 
 

ANTOINE TOLBERT, 
c/o Bohanon Law, L.L.C. 
50 Public Square, Suite 1900 
Cleveland, Ohio 44113 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
CITY OF CLEVELAND 
SERGEANT HENDERSON, #9293 
OFFICER #2155 
OFFICER #1669 
OFFICER #1155 
OFFICER #2257 
OFFICER #2094 
OFFICER #1230 
OFFICER #2392 
OFFICER #1358 
OFFICER #1009 
DOES 1-4 
c/o Cleveland Department of Law 
601 Lakeside Ave., Room 106 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 
 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 
CASE NO._____________________ 
 
 
JUDGE:  
 
COMPLAINT  
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  

 

 This is a civil rights action. Plaintiff Antoine Tolbert, for his complaint against the 

above identified Defendants allege the following: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Antoine Tolbert is a community organizer and activist in the City of Cleveland and 

surrounding neighborhoods. His organization, New Era Cleveland, focuses on providing resources 

and education to the community, as well as conducting safety patrols throughout neighborhoods 

to deter ongoing violence. On May 23, 2022, on the east side of Cleveland, a series of shootings 
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caused the death of a fourteen-year-old girl and left others wounded. As he had done many times 

before, Antoine Tolbert responded to the neighborhood of 105th Street and St. Clair Avenue to 

establish his organization’s presence for community safety. Antoine had two visible firearms on 

his persons. As he walked down St. Clair Avenue, Antoine was approached by officers of the 

Cleveland Police Department, detained, and arrested. Charges were presented to a grand jury on 

June 10, 2022. The grand jury issued a No Bill.  

2. Defendants’ actions violated Plaintiff’s rights under the United States Constitution 

and the laws of the State of Ohio.  

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff Antoine Tolbert has lived in Cuyahoga County, Ohio all his life, including 

during all of the operative events giving rise to the allegations in this Complaint.  

4. Defendant City Cleveland is an Ohio municipal corporation that operates the 

Cleveland Division of Police. Defendant City of Cleveland is a unit of local government duly 

organized under the laws of the State of Ohio, residing in the Northern District of Ohio acting 

under the color of law. Defendant City of Cleveland is a “person” under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

Defendant City of Cleveland is the employer and principal of Sergeant Henderson No. 9293, 

Officer No. 2155, Officer No. 1669, Officer No. 1155, Officer No. 2257, Officer No. 2094, Officer 

No. 1230, Officer No. 2392, Officer No. 1358, Officer No. 1009, and Does 1-4 and is responsible 

for the policies, practices, and customs of the Cleveland Division of Police.  

5. Defendant Police Sergeant Henderson No. 9293, Officer No. 2155, Officer No. 

1669, Officer No. 1155, Officer No. 2257, Officer No. 2094, Officer No. 1230, Officer No. 2392, 

Officer No.1358, Officer No. 1009, and Does 1-4 were, at all times relevant to the allegations 

made in this Complaint, duly appointed police officers employed by the Cleveland Division of 
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Police, acting within the scope of their employment and under the color of state law. They are sued 

in their individual capacities.  

JURISIDCTION  

6. This is a civil rights action arising under the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 

the United States Constitution. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over the related state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1367.  

 VENUE  

8. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391. The Defendant is a political subdivision 

located in this District. The events giving rise to the claims occurred in this District. 

 

STATEMENT OF FACTS  

 

9. Plaintiff Antoine Tolbert is the President of a non-profit organization, New Era 

Cleveland. This community-based organization was designed to provide needed support for urban 

communities in Cleveland, Ohio. New Era Cleveland has established multiple community 

engagement programs, provided resources and education to members within the community, and 

implemented plans to foster community safety. New Era Cleveland has conducted multiple safety 

patrols within the City of Cleveland to deter ongoing violence. 

10. Antoine also speaks with Cleveland police recruits during the academy to discuss 

the importance of community engagement and proper interactions with citizens.  
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11. On May 23, 2022, a fourteen-year-old girl was shot and killed following a shooting 

in the Glenville neighborhood. During that same day, another shooting occurred in a neighboring 

community, wounding five individuals.  

12. Plaintiff Antoine Tolbert was made aware of the community threat and responded 

to the vicinity of that neighborhood. Antoine drove and parked his vehicle at Rite Aid, located at 

the intersection of 105th Street and St. Clair Avenue.  

13. As he had done previously, Antoine carried a 12 GA shotgun in his hand, face down 

in a port arms position. He had an additional firearm in a holster.  

14. Cleveland Police Officers were dispatched to 105th Street and St. Clair Avenue for 

reports of a man walking down the street with a gun. 

15. Antoine was first approached by two Cleveland Police Officers, including 

Defendant Officer Santa No. 1358. Defendant Officers observed both firearms in Antoine’s 

possession and proceeded to inquire as to why Antoine was walking down the street with his 

firearms. Defendant Officer Santa No. 1358 requested that Antoine place his shotgun on the 

ground, and he complied.  

16. During this interaction, Defendant Officer Santa No. 1358 explained that Antoine 

had the right to carry, and that she was merely expressing concerns.  

17. In conversing with Defendant Officer Santa No. 1358, Antoine referred to the 

shootings that occurred in the neighborhood earlier that day and conveyed that he was conducting 

safety patrols following the gun violence.  

18. Antoine asked if he was being detained and Defendant Officer Santa No. 1358 said 

Antoine was free to leave.  

19. Antoine proceeded to walk down St. Claire Avenue. 
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20. During this time, Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 approached the scene 

and asked officers where Antoine was. Officers explained that after speaking with Antoine, he 

continued to walk down the street.  

21. Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 told officers that Antoine could not “walk 

down the street carrying a gun.” Officers proceeded to follow Antoine.  

22. Once officers identified Antoine walking on the sidewalk, officers parked their 

cruisers and prepared to detain him. 

23. Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 exited his patrol vehicle, drew his 

weapon, and approached Antoine. Defendant Sergeant Henderson ordered Antoine to place his 

firearms on the ground. Antoine continuously inquired as to why he was being detained and 

ordered to drop his firearms. 

24.  Defendant Police Sergeant Henderson No. 9293, Officer No. 2155, Officer No. 

1669, Officer No. 1155, Officer No. 2257, Officer No. 2094, Officer No. 1230, Officer No. 2392, 

Officer No.1358, Officer No 1009 and Does 1-2 surrounded Antoine while Defendant Sergeant 

Henderson continuously told Antoine he was not allowed to walk down the street with his firearm 

in his hand.  

25. Antoine told Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 that he was not breaking any 

laws since Ohio was an open carry state. Defendant Sergeant Henderson disagreed and told 

Antoine he could not walk down the street with the gun in his hand.  

26. Antoine continued to ask Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 why he was 

being detained and what law he allegedly violated that subjected him to detention. Defendant 

Sergeant Henderson explained “you can’t walk down the street with a gun in your hand……I’m 

not going to allow you to do it.” 
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27. After approximately two minutes of being surrounded, Antoine was arrested and 

placed in the back of a police cruiser.  

28. Immediately following Antoine’s arrest, Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 

told the surrounding officers, “CCW arrest.” The surrounding officers responded with laughter. A 

few seconds later, Defendant Sergeant Henderson approached Officer Santa No. 1358 and Officer 

No. 1230 and said, “it’s going to be an uhh, improper handling of a firearm.” Officer Santa No. 

1358 responded, “Okay.” 

29. Moments later, Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 opened the rear door of a 

police cruiser and explained to Antoine that he was being charged with improper handling for 

walking down the street with his firearm in his hand.  

30. Concerned citizens, including Councilman Basheer Jones, approached the scene to 

inquire about Antoine’s arrest. Defendant Sergeant Henderson No. 9293 continued to explain that 

Antoine was under arrest for improper handling due to walking down the street with his firearm in 

his hand.  

31. Antoine was ultimately transported to the Cuyahoga County Jail for charges of 

Carrying a Concealed Weapon. He spent approximately 36 hours in the County Jail before being 

released with no formal charges.  

32. On June 10, 2022, the Cuyahoga County Prosecutor’s Office presented the sole 

count of Carrying and Concealed Weapon to the Cuyahoga County Grand Jury.  

33. The grandy jury returned an No Bill.  

34. The Defendant Officers’ actions of detaining and arresting Antoine were without 

reasonable suspicion or probable cause, were unjustified, objectively unreasonable, and constitute 

deliberate indifference. 
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35. Defendants engaged in willful, wanton, reckless, and/or negligent conduct. 

36. Each Defendant Officer had the duty and opportunity to intervene and prevent the 

violation of Antoine’s Constitutional rights, yet instead, chose to ignore the blatant violations. 

37. The Defendant Officers’ actions, as alleged in the preceding paragraphs, were 

performed under the color of law and deprived Plaintiff Antoine Tolbert of federally protected 

rights, in violation of Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

38. Defendants’ conduct was the direct, actual, and proximate cause of Plaintiff’s 

injuries. 

39. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff sustained injuries, 

including, inter alia, emotional distress, humiliation, loss of liberty, contraction of COVID-19, 

loss of employment, and temporary loss of residence.  

40. Plaintiff’s injuries were all preventable had Defendants not engaged in illegal 

conduct in violation of Plaintiff’s fundamental rights.  

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF  
 

Claim I 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 Claim for Unlawful Seizure  

against Defendants Sergeant Henderson No. 9293, Officer No. 2155, Officer No. 1669, 

Officer No. 1155, Officer No. 2257, Officer No. 2094, Officer No. 1230, Officer No. 2392, 

Officer No.1358, Officer 1009, and Does 1-2 
 

41. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein by reference the preceding and any subsequent 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

42. The Defendant Officers, acting individually, jointly, and in conspiracy with each other, 

while acting under the color of law and within the scope of their employment, deprived Plaintiff 

of his rights guaranteed to him pursuant to the United States Constitution, including the right to be 

free from unlawful seizures under the Fourth Amendment.  
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43. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ actions Antoine Tolbert’s constitutional 

rights were violated and he suffered, and continues to suffer, injury and damages as set forth in 

this Complaint.  

44. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for this conduct. 

Claim II  

42 U.S.C. § 1983 Claim for False Arrest  

against Defendants Sergeant Henderson No. 9293, Officer No. 2155, Officer No. 1669, 

Officer No. 1155, Officer No. 2257, Officer No. 2094, Officer No. 1230, Officer No. 2392, 

Officer No.1358, Officer 1009, and Does 1-2 

 

45. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein by reference the preceding and any subsequent 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

46. As described above, Defendant Officers, acting individually, jointly, and in conspiracy 

with each other, caused Antoine Tolbert to be unreasonably seized, detained, imprisoned and 

deprived of his liberty without probable cause to believe that he had committed a crime, in 

violation of his rights guaranteed by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States  

Constitution, and/or failed to prevent this misconduct in spite of having the duty, opportunity and 

means to intervene to protect him. 

47. Defendant Officers were acting under the color of law and within the scope of their 

employment when they took these actions.  

48. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ actions, Antoine Tolbert’s constitutional 

rights were violated and he suffered, and continues to suffer, injury and damages as set forth in 

this Complaint.  

49. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for this conduct.  
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Claim III 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 Monell claim  

against Defendant City of Cleveland 

 

50. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein by reference the preceding and any subsequent 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

51. Defendant City of Cleveland has been aware of persistent patterns, policies, practices, and 

customs in its police department, and propensity of its officers to deprive citizens of their 

constitutional right to be free from unlawful search and seizures.  

52. Defendant City of Cleveland, at all times relevant to the matter at hand, approved, 

authorized, and/or acquiesced in the unlawful and unconstitutional conduct of its respective 

employees and/or agents and consequently are directly liable for the acts of those agents pursuant 

to 42 U.S.C. 1983.  

53. After conducting an investigation into the City of Cleveland Police Department, the United 

States Department of Justice reported its findings in a detailed report. The 2014 report found, inter 

alia, that “officers often subject people to stops and searches without the requisite level of 

suspicion” Investigation of the Cleveland Division of Police, U.S. Department of Justice (December 2014) at 49.  

54. In 2015, the City of Cleveland and the United States Department of Justice entered into a 

Consent Decree to correct unconstitutional practices within the Cleveland Police Department. In 

recognizing the need to eliminate unconstitutional seizures, the Consent Decree provided that 

“officers will not conduct investigatory stops when they lack reasonable suspicion.” 2015 Consent 

Decree ¶ 162.  

55. Defendant City of Cleveland and the Cleveland Police Department have continued to 

tolerate and/or permit the practice of unconstitutional investigatory stops, detentions, and arrests 

of citizens.  
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56. Defendant City of Cleveland and the Cleveland Police Department have failed to 

adequately denounce and eliminate these unconstitutional patterns, policies, practices, and 

customs. 

57. By its failure and indifference, Defendant City of Cleveland implicitly authorized, 

approved, and knowingly acquiesced in the unconstitutional conduct against Plaintiff Antoine 

Tolbert.  

58. As a direct and proximate result of the action and inaction of Defendant City of Cleveland, 

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, injury and damages as set forth in this Complaint. 

Claim IV 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 Supervisory Liability Claim 

against Does 3-4 

 

59. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein by reference the preceding and any subsequent 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

60. The constitutional violations and resulting injuries complained of herein were proximately 

caused by (i) the intentional misconduct of the Supervisory Defendants (Does 3-4), or (ii) by these 

Supervisory Defendants being deliberately and recklessly indifferent to their subordinates’ 

misconduct, knowing that ignoring that misconduct would necessarily violate Plaintiff’s 

constitutional rights.  

61. These Supervisory Officers were aware of and facilitated, condoned, and/or oversaw the 

unconstitutional measures used by other Defendants to detain and arrest citizens without the 

requisite reasonable suspicion or probable cause.  

62. Supervisory Defendants exhibited a deliberate indifference to the misconduct of other 

Defendants which resulted in the injury sustained by Plaintiff Antoine Tolbert. 
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63. The Supervisory Defendants were acting under color of law and within the scope of their 

employment when they took these actions.  

64. As a direct and proximate result of the action and inaction of Supervisory Defendants 

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, injury and damages as set forth in this Complaint. 

65. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for this conduct.  

 

Claim IV 

State Law Claim for False Arrest  

against Defendants Sergeant Henderson No. 9293, Officer No. 2155, Officer No. 1669, 

Officer No. 1155, Officer No. 2257, Officer No. 2094, Officer No. 1230, Officer No. 2392, 

Officer No.1358, Officer 1009 and Does 1-2 

 

66. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein by reference the preceding and any subsequent 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

67. Defendants intentionally and unlawfully detained and caused the arrest of Antoine Tolbert 

without law privilege, against his consent, and without probable cause. 

68. Antoine Tolbert’s arrest, unsupported by probable cause, was in violation of the law of the 

State of Ohio. 

69. Defendants caused the illegal arrest, detention, imprisonment and intuition of legal 

proceedings against Plaintiff.  

70. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, and/or reckless 

71. Defendants’ actions and conduct constitute false arrest, in violation of Ohio law. 

72. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ actions Antoine Tolbert’s constitutional 

rights were violated and he suffered, and continues to suffer, injury and damages as set forth in 

this Complaint.  
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73. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for this conduct.  

 

Claim V 

State Law Claim for Negligence – Willful, Wanton and Reckless Conduct 

against Defendants Sergeant Henderson No. 9293, Officer No. 2155, Officer No. 

1669, Officer No. 1155, Officer No. 2257, Officer No. 2094, Officer No. 1230, Officer 

No. 2392, Officer No.1358, Officer 1009 and Does 1-2 

 

74. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein by reference the preceding and any subsequent 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

75. Defendant Officers acted negligently when they violated their duty to exercise due care for 

Antoine Tolbert. 

76. Defendants committed the acts alleged in this complaint in a willful, wanton and/or wanton 

manner while working as Cleveland Division of Police Officers. 

77. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ actions Antoine Tolbert’s constitutional 

rights were violated and he suffered, and continues to suffer, injury and damages as set forth in 

this Complaint.  

78. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for this conduct.  

 

JURY DEMAND 

79. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury in this action.   

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands a jury trial for all issues so appropriate and requests 

that this Court order the following relief: 

A. Actual and/or compensatory damages against all Defendants in an amount 

to be determined at trial that will fully and fairly compensate him for the 
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violation of his rights, and for the injuries and damages he suffered; 

 

B.  Punitive damages against all Defendants in an amount to be determined at 

trial that will serve to adequately punish and deter the acts and omissions 

alleged in this complaint; 

 

C. Attorney fees and the costs of this action and other costs that may be associated with this 

action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

 

D. All other relief which this Honorable Court deems equitable and just. 

 

DATED this 22nd day of August 2022.   Respectfully Submitted,  

 
 

___________________________ 

Tiana S. Bohanon (100435) 

50 Public Square, Suite 1900 

Cleveland, Ohio 44113 

216-279-5300 

tsb@bohanonlawllc.com 

   

Attorney for Plaintiff Antoine Tolbert  
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